RECEIVED

Dec 01 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2016-CP-14-198
Appellate Case No. 2019-001970

Rebecca J. Robbins and Marie Babayan, individually
and on behalf of all those similarly situated, Appellants,

v.

Town of Turbeville and the Town of Turbeville Police Department, Respondents,

v.

The State of South Carolina, Third Party Defendants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

John S. Simmons (SC Bar No. 10260)
Simmons Law Firm, LLC
1711 Pickens Street
Columbia, SC 29201
jsimmons@simmonsllc.com
(803) 779-4600

Counsel for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. In a case presenting questions of urgency requiring the establishment of a rule for future guidance in matters of significant public interest, did the circuit court err in denying Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment and granting Defendants' cross-motion for summary judgment on mootness grounds where the conduct at issue remains capable of repetition and evading review and judicial resolution of questions of law would provide essential guidance on matters of substantial public concern?
- II. In denying Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment, did the circuit court err in failing to declare the Town's Traffic Ordinances unconstitutional and unenforceable as a matter of law?
- III. Did the circuit court err in finding Plaintiffs' claims preempted and barred by the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act where Plaintiffs never sought to void their convictions and solely seek the equitable remedy of disgorgement of any illegal benefit obtained from the Town's enforcement of admittedly invalid ordinances?
- IV. Did the circuit court err in holding Plaintiffs cannot establish the Rule 23 requirements for class certification?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Overview of the Claims and Disposition.

This is an appeal from an order granting summary judgment in favor of the Town of Turbeville and the Turbeville Police Department (collectively “Defendants” or “the Town”), denying Plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgment and denying class certification under Rule 23, SCRCF. Finding that the Town had repealed certain local traffic ordinances following the filing of this lawsuit, the lower court held that Plaintiffs’ claims for injunctive and declaratory relief were rendered moot and judgment in favor of the Town was therefore appropriate. (Order at 1) (R. pp. 1-8). Plaintiffs filed this class action lawsuit on May 9, 2016, against Defendants Town of Turbeville and Turbeville Police Department, contending the Town enacted and enforced local traffic ordinances which were in contravention of state law governing traffic enforcement. Plaintiffs asserted the Town ticketed allegedly speeding motorists for violations of the Town’s traffic ordinances instead of ticketing the motorists for violating state law. Plaintiffs alleged that fines for these tickets vastly exceeded the fines set by applicable state statutes and that officers who issued the tickets often informed motorists that unlike a ticket written under state law, no points would be assessed for the violation. (Compl.) (R. pp. 9-84).

In addition to claims in their individual capacity, Plaintiffs sought certification of a class consisting of persons ticketed under the illegal ordinances as well as certification of a subclass of anyone fined pursuant to the illegal ordinances. Plaintiffs sought declaratory relief, injunctive relief, and a refund of any illegal benefit the Town retained. (Compl. p. 18) (R. p. 26). Defendants responded by way of a motion to dismiss filed July 8, 2016. The motion to dismiss was granted by order of the Honorable W. Jeffrey Young dated November 10, 2016 as to the claims asserted against the Town’s Chief of Police, David Jones, but denied as to

the other defendants. The case was designated as complex by Order of the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. dated June 1, 2017, noting the parties' joint request for such designation due to complex procedural and substantive issues in the case. On July 27, 2017, the Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint with the consent of the Defendants. On November 1, 2017, Plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification and for partial summary judgment, seeking a declaration that the ordinances were invalid as a matter of law. (Pl. Mot. for Summ. J. pp. 1-2.) (R. pp. 196-234). Plaintiffs further sought the trial court's permission to defer class notice. *Id.* Defendants filed a cross-motion for summary judgment on February 14, 2018, asserting that Turbeville's repeal of the relevant ordinances on October 10, 2017, after the commencement of this action, rendered the claims for injunctive and declaratory relief moot. (Def. Mot. for Summ. J pp. 1-2, 5.) (R. pp. 253-317). Tellingly, the motion for summary judgment did not include a defense of the constitutionality of the ordinances. *See Id.* The Town further contended all claims were barred by the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(B). *Id.* (R. pp. 255-257).

Following a hearing, the Honorable Clifton B. Newman, by Order dated October 30, 2019, denied Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment and granted Defendants' cross-motion for summary judgment based upon a finding that Plaintiffs' claims for equitable relief were rendered moot since Turbeville had repealed the ordinances.¹ R. pp. 1-8. In its Order, the lower court declined to address the merits of the ordinances and further denied Plaintiffs' Motion for Class Certification, finding first Plaintiffs did not meet certain factors articulated in Rule 23 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The Court also held that the claims for refunds as

¹ As reflected in this Court's correspondence dated June 29, 2021, the parties have agreed to proceed without the transcript of the hearing in this matter.

part of Plaintiffs' putative subclass was barred by the S.C. Tort Claims Act and, further, that Plaintiffs' constitutional challenge to the ordinance was preempted by the Uniform Post Conviction Relief Act. On November 27, 2019, the Plaintiffs filed and served their Notice of Appeal from Judge Newman's Order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The History of the Ordinances and Improper Ticketing Practices

This case arises out of a small town's successful efforts to generate revenue by instituting local traffic ordinances which run afoul of State law.² On May 13, 2003, the Turbeville Town Council enacted the Town Traffic Ordinance. (Am. Compl. ¶ 26; Answer ¶ 26) (R. pp. 89, 176). On August 11, 2009, the Turbeville Town Council amended the Town Traffic Ordinance to provide as follows:

It shall be unlawful for any person to operate any vehicle without care, caution, and full regard for safety of persons or property. Any person failing so to do shall be guilty of the Town Traffic Ordinance. The operation of any vehicle when the same or any of its appliances is not in proper or safe condition shall be prima facie evidence of the violation of the Town Traffic Ordinance.

(Am. Compl. ¶ 27; Answer ¶ 27) (R. pp. 89, 176). The Turbeville Town Council also adopted the Penalty Ordinance, which stated:

It shall be unlawful for any person to fail to obey the traffic ordinances of the Town of Turbeville and the State of South Carolina while operating a motor vehicle within the town limits. Any person convicted of violating the provisions of this section, shall be fined not more than five hundred and no/100ths (\$500.00) dollars plus the assessments, or imprisoned not more than thirty (30) days.

(Am. Compl. ¶ 28; Answer ¶ 28) (R. pp. 89, 176).

² According to the Town's website, Turbeville's population is 720 people. <https://townofturbeville.com/town-history/>.

Defendant Turbeville Police Department aggressively enforced the Town Traffic Ordinance and the Penalty Ordinance, generating substantial revenue for the Town and resulting in at least 5,000 individuals having been cited under the traffic ordinances from May 9, 2013 through August 15, 2017. (*See, e.g.*, Pl. Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. A.) (R. p. 219).

The Issuance of Multiple Advisory Opinions

On November 18, 2013, the South Carolina Attorney General's Office issued two advisory opinions relevant to the Traffic Ordinances. First, the Attorney General issued an opinion requested by State Treasurer Loftis that addressed a decrease in court fines and fees remitted by municipalities in recent years. (*See* Am. Compl. at Ex. B) (R. pp. 105-116). Treasurer Loftis inquired about the legality of local traffic ordinances, which may have a net effect of decreasing money sent to the State by municipalities. (*Id.*) In a thorough opinion, the Attorney General discussed a variety of prior Advisory Opinions and concluded that "local ordinances attempting to regulate traffic in the same manner as any provision under the [Uniform Traffic Act], unless expressly authorized, are likely invalid." (*Id.* at 5). The Attorney General also cited an earlier Advisory Opinion and noted that "[o]rdinances lowering or relaxing statutory standards relative to offenses are void as in conflict with state law and policy." *Id.* (quoting Op. S.C. Att'y Gen., 2006 WL 422574 (Feb. 1, 2006)).

The Attorney General also issued a related Advisory Opinion requested by Representative Jimmy C. Bales.³ (*See* Am. Compl. at Ex. C) (R. pp. 117-127). In that Advisory Opinion, the Attorney General similarly concluded that municipal ordinances setting their own penalties for speeding and other traffic violations were invalid as they conflict with State law. (*Id.* at 4-5).

³ Rep. Bales undertook several efforts to put a stop to the Defendants' unlawful traffic enforcement scheme.

Despite these clear pronouncements from the Attorney General's Office, Defendants failed to cease enforcement of their unlawful traffic ordinances or otherwise remediate their unlawful conduct. (*See* Pl. Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B) (R. pp. 222-227). Indeed, Defendants continued to write tickets under the Traffic Ordinances, including issuing tickets to both of the named Plaintiffs in this case.

The Traffic Stops of the Named Plaintiffs

On October 28, 2014, Plaintiff Robbins was stopped by Lt. Philip C. Wilkes of the Turbeville Police Department and cited with violating the Town Traffic Ordinance. (Am. Compl. ¶52; Answer ¶52) (R. p. 93, R. p. 178). Lt. Wilkes issued Plaintiff Robbins a ticket with a recommended bond amount of \$288. (Am. Compl. ¶53; Answer ¶53) (R. p. 94, R. p. 178). Plaintiff Robbins challenged her ticket by filing a Motion to Dismiss, in which she contended that the Town Traffic Ordinance was illegal and preempted by State law. (Am. Compl. ¶54; Answer ¶54) (R. p. 94, R. p. 179). At trial, the municipal judge *sua sponte* converted Plaintiff Robbins' charge to a violation of the State speeding statutes. (Am. Compl. ¶57; Answer ¶57) (R. p. 94, R. p. 179). Plaintiff Robbins was convicted of violating the State speeding statutes and appealed that conviction on the ground that a judge cannot change a defendant's charge. Judge Thomas W. Cooper reversed and remanded Plaintiff Robbins' conviction.⁴

On August 16, 2015, Plaintiff Babayan was stopped by Sgt. Robert Haskell Carter of the Turbeville Police Department and cited for violating the Town Traffic Ordinance. (Am. Compl. ¶

⁴ When the Complaint in this case was filed, Plaintiff Robbins' appeal was still pending. On September 1, 2016, Judge Cooper entered a Form 4 Order reversing Plaintiff Robbins' conviction. A court can take judicial notice of such an order. *See* Rule 201(f) ("Judicial notice may be taken at *any stage* of the proceeding." (emphasis added)); *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 134 N.2, 754 S.E.2d 494, 497 n.2 (2014) (holding that it is appropriate for courts to take judicial notice of prior, related court orders and filings).

62; Answer ¶ 62) (R. p. 95, R. p. 179). Sgt. Carter issued Plaintiff Babayan a ticket with a recommended bond amount of \$388. (Am. Compl. ¶63; Answer ¶63) (R. p. 95, R. p. 179). Plaintiff Babayan paid a reduced fine of \$188 to resolve her ticket.

The Class Action Lawsuit

Plaintiffs initiated this case seeking relief on their own behalf and on behalf of all others similarly situated related to these ordinances and ticketing practices. The Amended Complaint seeks four forms of relief: (1) a declaration that Turbeville Town Ordinances 13-22 ("the Town Traffic Ordinance") and 13-23 ("the Penalty Ordinance") are unconstitutional and in violation of State law; (2) a permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants from enforcing either ordinance; (3) restitution of the illegally collected fines and penalties; and (4) refund of the illegally collected fines and penalties. (Am. Compl.) (R. pp. 85-159). In their prayer for relief, the Plaintiffs further sought payment of their attorney's fees, including but not limited to attorneys' fees under S.C. Code Ann. §15-77-300, on the grounds that Defendants were not substantially justified in enacting and enforcing the town ordinance. (Am. Compl. p. 17) (R. pp. 100-101). Plaintiffs further requested that Defendants be required to pay their costs, including but not limited to costs available under section 15-53-100 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. (*Id.*)

The first two causes of action were brought on behalf of both named Plaintiffs and a proposed Class, which is defined as follows:

All persons who have been charged with violating, or who have paid fines for violating, the Town Traffic Ordinance and/or the Penalty Ordinance from May 9, 2013 to present ("the Injunctive Class").

(Am. Compl. ¶¶ 67, 77-84) (R. pp. 95-99).

The latter two causes of action were brought on behalf of Plaintiff Babayan and a proposed Subclass, which is defined as follows:

All persons who have paid fines for violating the Town Traffic Ordinance and/or the Penalty Ordinance from May 9, 2013 to present ("the Damages Subclass").

(Am. Compl. ¶¶67, 85–95) (R. p. 95, pp. 99-100).

Following discovery, Plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment, seeking certification of the Injunctive Class and the Damages Subclass and a declaration that the Town Traffic Ordinance and Penalty Ordinance were unconstitutional and in violation of State law.⁵ The Defendants filed a cross-motion for summary judgment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing appeals involving summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard of the trial court pursuant to Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. *Bovain v. Canal Ins.*, 383 S.C. 100, 678 S.E.2d 422 (2009); *Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, No. 2017-001996 (S.C. Ct. App. March 3, 2021). "Where cross motions for summary judgment are filed, the parties concede the issue before [the court] should be decided as a matter of law." *Wiegand v. U.S. Auto Ass'n*, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011). "Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court." *Wiegand*, 391 S.C. at 163, 705 S.E.2d at 434 (2011) (quoting *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 654, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008)). "Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party is entitled to prevail as a matter of law." *Oblachinski v. Reynolds*, 391 S.C. 557, 560, 706 S.E.2d 844, 845 (2011) (citations omitted). "The purpose of

⁵ Plaintiffs further requested that the lower court defer providing class notice to class members until the conclusion of any likely appeal of the court's decision with respect to the constitutionality and legality of the Town Traffic Ordinance and the Penalty Ordinance. (Pl. Mot. for Summ. J. pp. 18-20) (R. pp. 213-215).

summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases not requiring the services of a fact finder." *Mead v. Beaufort Cnty. Assessor*, 419 S.C. 125, 130, 796 S.E.2d 165, 168 (Ct. App. 2016) (citation omitted). To that end, a plaintiff may seek summary judgment "at any time after the expiration of 30 days from the commencement of the action." Rule 56(a), SCRPC. When a question of law is presented in a summary judgment motion, it is proper for the Court to summarily resolve the legal question. *Mead*, 419 S.C. at 130, 796 S.E.2d at 168; *see, e.g. Oblachinski*, 391 S.C. at 564, 706 S.E.2d at 857 (holding that it was appropriate for the Circuit Court to resolve the question of whether a duty exists at summary judgment).⁶ In cases where summary judgment is sought on the grounds that the matter is moot, an appellate court may find that while the issue giving rise to the appeal is moot, "the controversy is capable of repetition yet will generally evade review." *Found v. S.C. Dept't. of Transp., et al.*, 421 S.C. 110, 804 S.E.2d 854 (2017). In such instances, the appellate court may proceed with review on the merits of an issue in the interest of judicial economy, even though remand to the court below to consider the issues would be

⁶ Plaintiffs acknowledge that an order denying summary judgment is interlocutory in nature and not generally appealable. *See, e.g., Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co.*, 814 S.E.2d 643, 658-659 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018) (cert denied Nov. 9, 2018). However, given the unique facts of this case and the parties' agreement that the issues are ripe for determination as matters of law—as reflected in the cross-motions for summary judgment—Plaintiffs submit that this Court has the discretion to consider the *denial* of their motion for partial summary judgment because the order involves the merits of the case and affects a substantial right. *See, e.g., Brown v. Cnty. of Berkeley*, 366 S.C. 354, 622 S.E.2d 533 (2005). By way of example, there are two exceptions in which this Court may address an issue despite a finding of mootness below: 1) when the issue raised is capable of repetition, yet evading review, and 2) when the question considers matters of important public interest. *Curtis v. State of South Carolina*, 345 S.C. 557, 568, 549 S.E.2d 591, 596 (2001). In determining whether an issue meets the requirements of the "public importance exception," our Supreme Court has held that it requires a case-by-case analysis and a finding that the "issue must present a question of imperative and manifest urgency requiring the establishment of a rule for future guidance in "matters of important public interest." *Sloan v. Greenville County*, 361 S.C. 568, 570, 606 S.E.2d 464, 465- 66 (2004) (citing *Curtis*, 345 S.C. at 568, 549 S.E.2d at 596). Plaintiffs respectfully submit that this issue is of "imperative and manifest urgency" and seek review accordingly.

appropriate. *See Id.* at 122, 804 S.E.2d at 861 (citing *Furtick v. S.C. Dep't of Prob.*, 352 S.C. 594, 576 S.E.2d 146 (2003) (addressing the merits of an issue in the interest of judicial economy even though the respondent was entitled to review by the lower court)).

“[A] trial judge’s ruling on whether an action is properly maintainable as a class is within his discretion.” *E.M.C. Waller v. Seabrook Isl. Prop. Own. Assoc.*, 300 S.C. 465, 468, 388 S.E.2d 799, 801 (1990). The appellate court will “generally defer to the trial court’s discretion in granting class certification **absent an error of law.**” *Gardner v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 353 S.C. 1, 21, 577 S.E.2d 190, 200 (2003) (emphasis added) (citing *Waller, supra*).⁷ “In deciding whether class certification is proper, the court must apply a rigorous analysis to determine each prerequisite is satisfied.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Erred in Finding Plaintiffs’ Claims for Equitable Relief Moot Where the Issues Remain Capable of Repetition and Evading Review and Judicial Resolution Would Provide Essential Future Guidance in A Matter of Important Public Interest.

In granting Defendants’ motion for summary judgment and denying Plaintiffs’ partial motion for summary judgment, the lower court concluded that Plaintiffs’ claims were moot because the Town repealed the relevant ordinances after this lawsuit was filed. However, the lower court erred when it failed to address Plaintiffs’ contention that the matter still required review pursuant to two long-established exceptions to the mootness doctrine. Because there was

⁷ Again, Plaintiffs acknowledge that orders under Rule 23, SCRPC, are generally considered interlocutory in nature and therefore appealable only in certain circumstances; however, this Court may review an interlocutory order when it contains other appealable issues, as is the posture of the instant case. *See, e.g., Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln/Mercury, Inc.*, 344 S.C. 502 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001).

substantial evidence sufficient to support an exception to the mootness doctrine given the importance of ensuring such ordinances are never again enacted or enforced by municipalities, this Court should reverse the lower court's entry of judgment in favor of the Town; grant the Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment for the injunctive class and declare the ordinances unconstitutional and violative of state law; and award such fees and costs to Plaintiffs as allowable under South Carolina law.

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