RECEIVED

Dec 06 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CLARENDON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2016-CP-14-198
Appellate Case No. 2019-001970

Rebecca J. Robbins and Marie Babayan, individually
and on behalf of all those similarly situated, Appellants,

v.

Town of Turbeville and the Town of Turbeville Police Department, Respondents,

v.

The State of South Carolina, Third Party Defendants. Third Party Defendants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

John S. Wilkerson III (SC Bar No. 6105)
Richard S. Dukes, Jr. (SC Bar No. 16563)
Turner Padget Graham Laney, PA
Post Office Box 22129

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

ARGUMENT

- I. Summary judgment was appropriate as there exists no justiciable controversy at the time the Circuit Court entered judgment.**
 - A. Appellants’ claims for prospective declaratory and injunctive relief were properly dismissed because the repeal of the Traffic Ordinance renders their claims for prospective relief moot.**

Appellants’ claims are based entirely on the enactment and enforcement of Turbeville’s Municipal Traffic Ordinance, 13-22 and 13-23. In their Complaint, Appellants sought a declaration that the Traffic Ordinances were invalid, unconstitutional, and unenforceable, as well as an injunction prohibiting Turbeville from enforcing the ordinances.¹⁷ Turbeville repealed the Traffic Ordinances October 10, 2017. Because the Traffic Ordinance is no longer in effect, Appellants’ claims for injunctive relief and prospective declaratory relief became moot. Any

¹⁴ *Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 211, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290 (2019). (quoting *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001)).

¹⁵ *Id.* (quoting *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)).

¹⁶ *Id.* at 211-12, 826 S.E.2d at 290 (alteration in original) (quoting *George*, 345 S.C. at 452, 548 S.E.2d at 874).

¹⁷ Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 1, 77-84, R. pp. 98-99.

prospective relief would amount to an advisory opinion, which the Circuit Court properly declined to render.¹⁸

Additionally, Appellant Robbins' entire claim was properly dismissed as moot. Robbins went to trial for her violation and was convicted of violating the State traffic statute.¹⁹ She then appealed that conviction to Circuit Court, where her conviction was reversed.²⁰ On remand, the Town decided to *nolle prosequere* her charge, and the case against Robbins was dismissed. Robbins' only claim in this case, then, were for injunctive and declaratory relief and, with the repeal of the Ordinance, her claims are moot in their entirety.

B. Appellant Babayan's claims for a retroactive declaratory relief were properly dismissed as an impermissible collateral attack on her guilty plea and conviction under the Town Traffic Ordinance.

Marie Babayan's claims for a retroactive declaration that the Town Traffic Ordinance was invalid and unenforceable from the time it was adopted constituted an improper collateral attack on thousands of judgments that was correctly dismissed by the Circuit Court. Throughout the Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that Turbeville Municipal Ordinance 13-22 and 13-23 are preempted by South Carolina law and that enforcement of the ordinance was invalid and illegal.²¹

Plaintiff Babayan (the only Plaintiff who paid her traffic ticket and forfeited her bond) essentially requested the Circuit Court to declare her conviction to be void and to order the Town to refund the fine she voluntarily paid. Yet, Appellant did not challenge the Ordinance at the time she was cited for speeding in Turbeville, nor did she go to trial or appeal her conviction.

¹⁸ See e.g., *City of Columbia v. Sanders*, 231 S.C. 61, 97 S.E. 2d 210 (1957); and *Power v. McNair*, 255 S.C. 150, 154, 177 S.E.2d 551, 553 (1970).

¹⁹ Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 53 – 56, R. p. 94.

²⁰ Amended Complaint, ¶ 59, R. p. 94.

²¹ See, Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 1, 79, 82, 93, R. pp. 98, 99, 100.

Rather, she paid her ticket and forfeited that bond. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 56-5-6220, paying a traffic ticket or forfeiting the bond is the equivalent of entering a guilty plea, and she cannot seek retroactive vacatur of that guilty plea by way of a declaratory judgment action. As the South Carolina Court of Appeals has held: “[In] the case of traffic offenses, South Carolina has a specific statutory provision that payment of bond and the forfeiture of that bond prior to trial for traffic offenses shall have the same effect as a guilty plea and conviction.”²²

Appellant has made clear – she is not arguing she was not speeding – she is complaining that she got caught and received a citation for breaking the law. Every factual allegation in the Amended Complaint she contends supports a challenge to the validity of her ticket is a matter that could (and should) have been raised in the criminal proceeding and on appeal from her conviction. Instead, after pleading guilty to the charge, Babayan wants to dress up an impermissible collateral attack on her conviction as a civil action for a retroactive declaratory judgment.

The retroactive declaratory relief Appellant Babayan sought on behalf of herself and all other recipients of a ticket under the Town Traffic Ordinance is simply not available to her or to any of the members of the putative class she purports to represent.²³ Where, as here, a party voluntarily pays her ticket and thereby pleads guilty to the underlying offense, the only avenue of relief available to the offender is post-conviction relief. The PCR statute is explicit and unequivocal:

²² *State v. Truesdale*, 345 S.C. 542, 548 S.E.2d 896, 899 (Ct. App. 2001).

²³ Babayan cannot come to Court now and claim innocence when she admitted committing a crime, nor should she be permitted to challenge the Town’s Traffic Ordinance in this proceeding – in clear contravention of the well-recognized doctrine of judicial estoppel. Her position is inconsistent with her previous guilty plea to speeding; her previous position was of fact – she was speeding; that position was accepted by the court; and, the decision to pay the fine and accept her guilt was intentional and not accidental. Because Babayan is barred from taking a contrary position to her guilty plea, her claims in this suit can go no further.

- (A) Any person who has been convicted of, or sentenced for, a crime and who claims:
- (1) That the conviction or the sentence was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State;
 - (2) That the court was without jurisdiction to impose sentence;
 - (3) That the sentence exceeds the maximum authorized by law;
 - (4) That there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice;
 - (5) That his sentence has expired, his probation, parole or conditional release unlawfully revoked, or he is otherwise unlawfully held in custody or other restraint; or
 - (6) That the conviction or sentence is otherwise subject to collateral attack upon any ground of alleged error heretofore available under any common law, statutory or other writ, motion, petition, proceeding or remedy; may institute, without paying a filing fee, a proceeding under this chapter to secure relief. Provided, however, that this section shall not be construed to permit collateral attack on the ground that the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction.
- (B) This remedy is not a substitute for nor does it affect any remedy incident to the proceedings in the trial court, or of direct review of the sentence or conviction. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, it comprehends and takes the place of all other common law, statutory or other remedies heretofore available for challenging the validity of the conviction or sentence. It shall be used exclusively in place of them.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20.

Having been ticketed for speeding and having paid the \$188 fine, Marie Babayan's exclusive remedy for challenging the constitutionality of the Town Traffic Ordinance and the amount of the fine, was to initiate an action for Post-Conviction Relief. Simply put, an action for retrospective declaratory judgment is no substitute for a PCR action and is specifically prohibited by the clear terms of the PCR statute. Plaintiff Babayan had no remedy under South Carolina law to challenge an allegedly wrongful conviction other than that provided pursuant to the PCR

statute. The PCR statute expressly supersedes any right Babayan may have had to bring this civil action, and her sole remedy was to seek PCR review. For that reason, Babayan's claims for declaratory relief were properly dismissed.

II. The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment because Appellant Babayan was barred from any recovery of money damages by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.

There is no legal or equitable basis for a Court to order a political subdivision of the State to reimburse or provide restitution to those who were cited for violations of the law (much less to those who voluntarily pay the fine in the first place!). As with the State, so too with the towns, municipalities, and other political subdivisions. There is no statute commanding, or even permitting, the government to pay back any fines it has collected. Nor is there any statute waiving the sovereign immunity of the Town of Turbeville for any act alleged in the Amended Complaint. In fact, the clear terms of the Tort Claims Act afford the Town complete immunity from liability to Plaintiff Babayan and her proposed class.

The Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-60, *et seq.*, specifically prohibits Appellant Babayan's claim for money damages. The pertinent provisions of the Tort Claims Act are as follows:

The governmental entity *is not liable for a loss resulting from:*

- (1) legislative, judicial, or quasi-judicial action;
- (3) execution, enforcement, or implementation of the orders of any court or execution, enforcement, or lawful implementation of any process;
- (4) adoption, enforcement, or compliance with any law or failure to adopt or enforce any law, whether valid or invalid, including, but not limited to, any charter, provision, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or written policies;

- (23) institution or prosecution of any judicial or administrative proceeding;

S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-78-60.

Thus, the Tort Claims Act specifically prohibits this action against the Town. Issuing the traffic citations themselves falls under the protections of § 15-78-60(4), and it does not matter whether the now-rescinded Traffic Ordinance was valid or invalid. Collecting the fines for violating the Ordinance falls squarely within the immunity afforded pursuant to §§ 15-78-60(3) and 15-78-60(23), for the Town cannot be liable for collecting judicially ordered fines or prosecuting crimes. And, Babayan's claims arising from the Town's enactment of the Ordinance are also entirely barred by § 15-78-60(4). In short, the Tort Claims Act immunizes the Town from all Babayan's claims and immunizes it from any claim for money damages on any theory. Babayan's claims for herself and her putative class must fail as a matter of law.

Notwithstanding the express immunity granted by the Tort Claims Act, Plaintiff Babayan's claim for damages resulting from an alleged wrongful and unconstitutional conviction still must fail as a matter of law. On April 17, 2019, in *Palmer v. State*, the Court of Appeals held *there is no civil cause of action based upon a wrongful conviction*.²⁴ After the Supreme Court reversed his conviction, Robert Palmer commenced a civil action for damages and declaratory relief (seeking a declaration that the federal and state constitutions required that there be a remedy for damages) against the State. The Court of Appeals held that neither the South Carolina nor federal constitution requires that there be a civil monetary remedy for a wrongful conviction. The Court of Appeals also declined to create an implied right of action for money damages. In doing so, the Court of Appeals declined to invade the province of the Legislature and noted the General Assembly has refused to enact legislation creating a cause of action for

²⁴ *Palmer v. State*, 427 S.C. 36, 829 S.E.2d 255 (Ct. App. 2019).

wrongful conviction.²⁵ With the Court of Appeals' pronouncement, Babayan's claim for damages failed as a matter of law.

Finally, any refund of fines paid by Appellant Babayan, or her proposed damages subclass, would require an appropriation by the Town Council. The law is clear that the judicial branch cannot command a legislative body to appropriate money. Neither the Town nor the State can be compelled to refund the fines paid by Babayan or anyone else.²⁶ Irrespective of Tort Claims Act immunity, the Circuit Court properly dismissed her claim for money damages (or restitution) as a matter of law because Appellant simply cannot force the Town to appropriate funds to repay her (or her putative class) the fines they paid for traffic tickets.

A. Appellants' Motion to Certify was properly denied because they failed to establish each prerequisite imposed by Rule 23, SCRPC.

1. No classes could be certified because the Circuit Court would have been required to conduct myriad individual inquiries that defeat commonality.

The Circuit Court correctly denied class certification because Appellants could not establish there are common issues of law or fact that bind the class together and ultimately determine the case. Rather, because of the impenetrable morass of individual issues, Appellants failed to satisfy the burden of showing sufficient common issues of law or fact to support class certification. In short, there is no reliable way to determine whether any individual should be

²⁵ The Court of Appeals specifically noted that “[a] bill creating a cause of action for wrongful conviction was introduced in the South Carolina Senate but was not passed. *See* S. 1037, 119th Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (S.C. 2012) to amend Chapter 13, Title 24 of the South Carolina Code to read ‘Article XXII Compensation for a Wrongful Conviction.’ The bill passed in the senate but did not pass the house of representatives.” *Palmer v. State*, Op. 5641 at fn. 2.

²⁶ *See Culbertson v. Blatt*, 194 S.C. 105, 9 S.E.2d 218, 220 (1940) (it is not within the power of the judiciary to impinge upon the power vested in the legislative branch); *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Coalition of Expressway Opponents*, 307 S.C. 449, 415 S.E.2d 801, 805 (1992) (the tripartite system of government precludes the judicial branch from usurping the function of the legislative).

considered part of some class. Only an individual inquiry into all 10,000 files will reveal that information. As the *Gardner* Court made clear – such a detailed individual inquiry completely undermines any common issues of law or fact that may seem to exist.

a) Guilty plea, *nolo contendere*, or *Alford* plea?

Marie Babayan pleaded guilty, as she admitted. The vast majority of deponents who went to Court over their citations pleaded guilty. As noted above, pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 56-5-6220, those who simply paid their ticket are deemed to have pleaded guilty and been convicted of violating the law.

- At least one class member deponent testified she pleaded *nolo contendere*.²⁷
- One other deponent said he asked for a “plea bill.”²⁸
- No deponent testified they entered an *Alford* plea, but with 10,000 members of the putative class there is no telling how many there are.

But to know whether each individual entered a guilty plea in open court, or are deemed by law to have pleaded guilty; whether they pleaded no contest; or whether they entered an *Alford* plea, the Court would have had to conduct an individual inquiry into the individual files on each recipient of a citation to determine the disposition of each. These individual circumstances, which are impossible to ascertain, surely call into question whether Plaintiff can establish there are any common issues of law or fact that bind the class together.

b) Did the class member have a lawyer?

The Record revealed at least two of the putative class members whom counsel deposed are active members of the South Carolina Bar and one other sought legal advice before paying his fine.

²⁷ Deposition of Charlotte Daniels, 8:6-9, R. p. 330.

²⁸ Deposition of Garry Ludwick, 5:25 – 6:17, R. pp. 369-370.

David Gravely testified he asked the police officer to reduce his fine. When the officer rebuffed him, and told him only the judge could reduce his fine, he asked to speak with the presiding judge and said “I talk to judges all the time. I’ve been a lawyer for 40-plus years.” Ultimately, Mr. Gravely spoke with the clerk’s office and got his charge reduced to “illegal equipment or something like that. It was a non-point violation.”²⁹ Thus it is not at all clear that Mr. Gravely was even cited for violating the challenged Town Traffic Ordinance.

David Wells also is a practicing attorney. He admitted he was speeding and said he simply mailed in his \$87 fine. He did not contact the Court, nor did he appear for trial. He did not appeal his conviction.³⁰ He did not file a PCR action.

Finally, Keith Porter sought legal advice from a friend, attorney Frank Epps. After getting advice from Mr. Epps, Porter paid his \$560 fine. He did not go to court, nor did he seek to have his fine reduced.

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